Effectiveness of Breathing Exercises as a Play-way Method after Nebulisation vs Conventional Nebulisation on Respiratory Parameters among Children with Lower Respiratory Tract Infection- A Pilot Study

ANKITHA KHARVI¹, S SHANTHI², ANJU SAJI³

(CC) BY-NC-ND

Original Article

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Retained airway secretion is linked to a wide-range of respiratory illnesses. Breathing exercise plays a remarkable role in airway clearance and parenchyma expansion.

Aim: To evaluate the effect of breathing exercises as a play-way method after nebulisation on respiratory parameters among Children with Lower Respiratory Tract Infection.

Materials and Methods: The present study was a quasi-experimental pre-test and post test design conducted at AJ Institute of Medical Sciences, Mangaluru, Karnataka. This study selected 20 children admitted to the paediatric ward with a diagnosis of bronchitis, bronchiolitis and pneumonia from March 2020 to May 2021. The level of dyspnoea was assessed before nebulisation using a Paediatric Dyspnoea Scale (PDS). Respiratory rate per minute, oxygen saturation in percentage (%), chest expansion in centimeter (cm) and respiratory sounds were assessed after nebulisation. Interventional group was advised to blow the balloon after nebulisation for 15 minutes once

a day for two days consecutively. Unpaired t-test and Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) were used to find significance in between changes of respiratory parametres in both groups and those of pre-test and post test within the group respectively.

Results: In the total sample of 20 children, mean age of those in the intervention group (n=10) was 9.1 ± 2.71 years while those in the control group (n=10) was 8.75 ± 2.75 years. The birth order of the children was significantly dominant as second order (70%) in the control group while first order (80%) in the experimental group. Independent t-test showed that there was a statistically significant difference in the post test findings of respiratory rate (p-value=0.005), oxygen saturation (p-value=0.0004) and chest expansion (p-value=0.0006).

Conclusion: The study concluded that regular practice of balloon blowing exercise improves oxygen saturation and chest expansion to a great extent in children with lower respiratory tract infection.

Keywords: Balloon blowing exercise, Chest expansion, Oxygen saturation, Respiratory rate

INTRODUCTION

Diseases pertaining to the respiratory system are responsible for a large proportion of paediatric admissions and outpatient attendance in India [1]. Respiratory disorders are a leading cause of death and illness around the world [2]. Lower respiratory infection ranks as the fourth leading cause of death. The number of deaths has fortunately gone down from 2.6 million in 2019 to 460,000 in 2000 [3]. Pneumonia is the single largest infectious cause of death in children worldwide. It killed around 808,694 children under the age of five years in 2017 worldwide [4].

Most respiratory diseases are related to retained airway secretions due to increased mucus production, diminished mucociliary transport, and a cough [5,6]. The last few years have seen the utmost evolution in our understanding of aerosol delivery to human subjects. Modern technology, along with increasing knowledge of human pulmonary physiology, has supported better quality aerosol delivery. This form of treatment has technologised the management of patients with various pulmonary diseases [7].

Nebulisers create a tiny mist of droplets that can reach the lungs' narrow airways, giving moisture to loosen and thin secretions [8-10]. Sputum retention happens when patients are inept to clear secretions from their respiratory tract by themselves or with assistance [6]. Breathing exercises, clear the airways and expand the parenchyma by increasing the efficiency of respiratory muscles, reducing respiratory exertion, and improving lung function [11,12].

The balloon blowing exercise increases the maximum expiratory volume. As the volume of balloon increases, it increases the resistance of respiratory muscles [13].

Balloon resistance is all about the contraction of the diaphragmatic muscles. It is completely active during forced exhalation and respiratory cycle which lengthen and contract the internal and external intercoastal muscles and thus expands the lungs [14]. So, the balloon blowing breathing exercise aids in the removal of retained secretions with the child's efforts. Hence, the study aimed to assess the effect of balloon blowing exercise on respiratory rate, oxygen saturation (SpO₂), chest expansion and respiratory sounds in children with lower respiratory tract infections.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This was a quasi-experimental study with pre-test and post test design conducted in the Paediatric ward of AJ Institute of Medical Sciences, Mangaluru, Karnataka, India. Ethical approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee of AJ Institute of Medical Sciences (Ref no: AJEC/REV/102/2020 dated 11.12 2020) and registered in Clinical Trials Registry, India (CTRI/2021/03/031625 dated on 01.03.2021). It was a pilot project and the period of data collection was extended from March 2020 to May 2021.

Inclusion criteria: Children aged between 6 years to 12 years, who received asthalin nebulisation and those who were admitted to paediatric ward with pneumonia, bronchitis, or bronchiolitis were included.

Ankitha Kharvi et al., Effectiveness of Breathing Exercises after Nebulisation on Respiratory Parameters

Exclusion criteria: Children who were critically ill and those not willing to participate in the study were excluded. Cases with Pediatric Dyspnoea Scale (PDS) scores [15] above four, those who are allergic to latex material and also those with a congenital anomaly in the mouth and nose were excluded from the study.

The parents' written approval was secured, as was the children's assent. In order to assign the children to experimental group (n=10) and control group (n=10), 1-20 chits were prepared. Children were asked to pick up the chits and those who got even number were assigned to experimental group and those who got odd number as to control group, as this was the pre-determined criteria.

Children were screened by PDS (a series of colour-coded descriptions describing the extent of breathing difficulties). The PDS is scored from 1 (no trouble at all while breathing) through 7 (very much trouble). Baseline information was obtained from the mother by face to face interview and case file of the child. Pre-test assessment of respiratory parameters (oxygen saturation (SpO₂) and respiratory sounds) were assessed using pulse oximeter and stethoscope. Respiratory Rate (RR) was counted by the number of times the chest rises for one minute in a supine position. The circumference of the chest was measured at the level of the nipple line. The tape measure was placed at right angles to the vertebral column (difference between inspiratory circumference and expiratory circumference in cm). This was followed by asthalin nebulisation of child using respironics inspiration elite nebuliser for 15 minutes in the nebulisation unit, then the child was shifted to the bed and made to sit comfortably and asked to inhale maximum air before blowing the balloon and inflate the balloon by maximum exhalation. The balloon blowing exercise was performed for 15 minutes once a day for two days consecutively. Control group did not received the intervention. Post tests 1 and 2 were assessed for both the groups after 25 minutes of nebulisation therapy on days 1 and 2, respectively.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Data gathered by the investigator was coded, organised and analysed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 21.0. Demographic characteristics of the sample, respiratory sounds were analysed using frequency and percentage. Unpaired t-test used to determine the significant difference in the post tests respiratory parameter between interventional and control group. ANOVA was used to find the significant difference between pre-test and post test respiratory parameters.

RESULTS

Distribution of the sample according to their demographic characteristics

The mean age in the control group was 8.75 ± 2.75 years and that in the experimental group was 9.1 ± 2.71 years [Table/Fig-1].

		Control group (n=10)	Experimental group (n=10)	p-	
Demographic ch	aracteristics	n	value		
Child age (in year	s) Mean±SD	8.75±2.75	9.1±2.71	0.65	
Gender	Male	6 (60)	4 (40)	0.37	
Gender	Female	4 (40)	6 (60)	0.37	
Residence	Urban area	6 (60)	5 (50)	0.65	
Residence	Rural area	4 (40)	5 (50)	0.00	
Gestational age	Preterm	-	1 (10)	0.30	
Gestational age	Appropriate	10 (100)	9 (90)	0.30	
Type of birth	Normal vaginal delivery		5 (50)	0.36	
Type of birtin	Caesarean delivery	3 (30)	5 (50)	0.30	
	First	1 (30)	8 (80)		
Birth order of child	Second	7 (70)	1 (10)	0.005*	
	Third	2 (20)	1 (10)		

	2-2.5	2 (20)	2 (20)			
Birth weight (Kg)	2.6-3	5 (50)	5 (50)	1		
(-3)	3.1-3.5	3 (30)	3 (30)]		
Type of feed given after birth	Breast feed only	10 (10)	10 (100)	1		
History of immunisation	Yes	10 (10)	10 (100)	1		
History of	Yes	2 (20)	2 (20)	-		
allergy	No	8 (80)	8 (80)	1		
Previous history	Yes	2 (20)	3 (30)			
of hospitalisation due to respiratory illness	No	8 (80)	7 (70)	0.60		
Pet animals in	Yes	8 (80)	10 (100)	0.13		
home	No	2 (20)	-			
Family history of smoking	Yes	9 (90)	5 (50)	0.05*		
	No	1 (10)	5 (50)			
[Table/Fig-1]: Distribution of sample according to their demographic characteristics. p-value ≤0.05 is considered to be significant						

www.jcdr.net

The pre-test and post tests mean scores of PDS in the experimental group was less than the control group shown in [Table/Fig-2].

[Table/Fig-3] shows after two days of balloon blowing exercise, 9 (90%) children in the experimental group had normal respiratory sounds; whereas in the control group, 6 (60%) had normal respiratory sounds.

	Paediatric dyspnoea scale score						
	Pre-test		Post test 1		Post test 2		
Groups	max- min	Mean±SD	max- min	Mean±SD	max- min	Mean±SD	p- value
Experimental group (n=10)	4-2	2.8±0.24	4-2	2.7±0.21	4-1	2.6±0.26	0.04
Control group (n=10)	4-2	3±0.25	4-2	3±0.25	4-2	2.9±0.27	0.84

[Table/Fig-2]: Range, mean, standard deviation of pre-test and post tests paediatric dyspnoea scale score of children in the experimental and control group. Post tests 1 and 2 : assessed for both the groups after 25 minutes of nebulisation therapy on days 1 and 2, respectively. p-value 20.05 to be considered significant

Experimental group (n=10)			Control group (n=10)			
Respiratory	Pre-test	Post test 1	Post test 2	Pre-test	Post test 1	Post test 2
sounds	n (%)			n (%)		
Normal	4 (40)	4 (40)	9 (90)	4 (40)	4 (40)	6 (60)
Wheeze	4 (40)	4 (40)	1 (10)	4 (40)	4 (40)	3 (30)
Crackle	2 (20)	2 (20)	-	2 (20)	2 (20)	1 (10)

[Table/Fig-3]: Frequency and percentage distribution of children based on respiratory sounds in the experimental and control group. Post tests 1 and 2: assessed for both the groups after 25 minutes of nebulisation therapy on days 1 and 2, respectively.

Effect of balloon blowing exercise on respiratory parameters

Pre-test and post tests mean \pm standard deviation of RR, Spo₂, and Chest Expansion (CE) in the experimental group and control groups shown in [Table/Fig-4].

Respiratory parameters	Respiratory rate (RR) (per minute)		Oxygen saturation (SpO ₂) (%)		Chest expansion (CE) (cm)	
Groups	Range	Mean±SD	Range	Mean±SD	Range	Mean±SD
Pre-test						
Experimental	30-26	27.8±1.751	98-96	97.2±1.03	2-1	1.3±0.483
Control	28-24	26±1.632	97-94	96.2±0.82	2-1	1.3±0.483
Post test 1						
Experimental	28-24	26.4±1.83	99-96	97.5±0.84	3-1	1.9±0.56
Control	28-24	25.8±1.47	98-95	96.7±0.82	2-1	1.3±0.48

Post test 2						
Experimental	28-22	25.1±1.69	100-98	98.7±0.82	3-2	2.3±0.48
Control	28-24	25.8±1.47	98-95	96.8±0.91	2-1	1.5±0.52
[Table/Fig-4]: Range, mean, standard deviation of pre-test and post tests respiratory rate (per minute), oxygen saturation (percentage) and chest expansion (cm) of children in the experimental and control group. E: Experimental group; C: Control group; SD: Standard deviation						

Intergroup comparison showed statistically significant difference in the post test findings for oxygen saturation and chest expansion, but not in respiratory rate. Intragroup comparison shows that there was a statistical difference in the pre-test and post tests findings for oxygen saturation, respiratory rate and chest expansion [Table/Fig-5].

	Intragroup comparison (Experimental group vs Control group)	Intergroup comparison (Experimental vs Control group)				
Respiratory parameters	p-value					
Respiratory rate (per minute)	0.005*: 0.94	P1-0.43: P2-0.27				
Oxygen saturation (%)	0.0004*: 0.31	P1-0.04*: P2-0.0001*				
Chest expansion (cm)	0.0006*: 0.59	P1-0.02*: P2-0.002*				
[Table/Fig-5]: The p-value of intra and inter group comparison of respiratory parameters. p-value ≤ 0.05 is considered to be significant						

*- significant, P1- post test 01, P2- post test 2

Intra group comparison: ANOVA. Intergroup comparison: Unpaired 't'test

DISCUSSION

Dyspnoea is one of the chief symptoms of lung disease [16]. In this study, the children were advised to blow the balloon after nebulisation therapy for maximum of 10 times for 15 minutes. Mean scores of the PDS in the experimental group was less than the control group after two days of intervention. These findings are in accordance to the study by Angelin K et al., conducted in 20 patients using structured self-administered questionnaire and respiratory assessment for dyspnoea, found that in the pretest 15 (75%) had dyspnoea whereas after 14 days of balloon therapy 12 (60%) of them had no dyspnoea [17]. Similarly, another study which was conducted among 50 children aged 6 to 12 years revealed that post test mean dyspnoea score (1 \pm 0.0) was less than the pre-test score (1.36 \pm 0.48) [18]. Similar results were reflected by another previous study as well [19].

The present study noticed that before the balloon blowing exercise, less than half of the children in both groups had wheezing respiration, whereas after two days, almost all 9 (90%) of the children in the intervention group had normal respiration. These findings are supported by study which was conducted by Das SM et al., also studied the effect of balloon and bubble therapy on physiological parameters and observed that 17 (57%) of children had abnormal breath sounds in pre intervention and none after six days of balloon therapy [20]. The findings of study are similar to Sreeletha A, who studied the effect of balloon therapy versus incentive spirometry in promotion of respiratory function among 20 children in each group. It was observed that in seven children, wheeze was reduced after two weeks of balloon therapy, whereas none of it was reduced after giving two weeks of incentive spirometry [21]. So, balloon therapy is effective in reducing wheezing.

In the present study, children who performed balloon blowing exercise showed no statistical difference in respiratory rate. The result of the study is in contrast to a study conducted by Swain M in which it was observed that there was a statistical difference in respiratory rate after three days of administering the balloon blowing exercise [22]. Bhuvaneshwari G and Kunjachan R also found that spirometry is more effective in the respiratory rate when compared to the balloon therapy [23]. Similarly in another study by Das SM et al., found that there was a statistical difference in respiratory rate after administering six days of bubble therapy when comparing to the balloon therapy at p-value ≤ 0.05 [20]. The reasons for the contradictory finding may be due to more frequent and long-term intervention in the reference study [20-22].

In the current study, there was a statistical difference in the post test findings for oxygen saturation and chest expansion. The results of the present study are supported by Swain M among 40 children with 20 in each both group. An intervention group blowing air into a flute for 10 times within one hour in two times per day for three consecutive days. Respiration, pulse rate, blood pressure, and chest expansion was assessed and the result revealed that breathing exercise was effective on respiratory rate, pulse rate and chest expansion [22]. Similar findings were supported by other studies that found improvement in oxygen saturation after balloon therapy in comparison to bubble therapy and incentive spirometer [20,21]. Rafagat A et al., found that balloon blowing exercise resulted in improvement in the respiratory parameters such as Forced Vital Capacity (FVC), Forced Expiratory Volume (FEV) 1, oxygen saturation, respiratory rate and chest expansion [24]. Likewise, the study carried out by Shally Kumar Y and Kaur P revealed that the respiratory status of children improved where breathing exercises were given as a therapeutic play in combination with nebulisation therapy [11]. So, based on study findings-balloon blowing exercise improves the oxygen saturation and chest expansion when compared to other breathing exercises like bubble therapy and incentive spirometer.

Limitation(s)

Small sample size and short term intervention were the limitations in this study which could be addressed in future research.

CONCLUSION(S)

Nebulisation is often used to loosen respiratory secretions in children with lower respiratory tract infections. However, many of the children are unable to remove secretions from their respiratory system on their own. So, the child can be encouraged to blow a balloon after nebulisation which helps to eliminate retained secretions, regularise respiratory parameters and improved prognosis. A balloon blowing exercise being simple and is accepted by the children and parents. It is easy to administer.

Acknowledgement

Investigators acknowledge Rajiv Gandhi University of Health Sciences, Bengaluru, Karnataka for providing the grant for the study and also we acknowledge the Archana, Anumolshaju, Ashleyvarghese, Anjujose, Anjana K, Anusha Mathew, Arathi AR, Anjufrancis, Anjumathew, Ashinroy for their support for the successful completion of the study.

REFERENCES

- [1] Gupta S. The short text book of paediatrics. 11th edition. Fourth decade of publication.
- [2] Sheffield. European respiratory society. The global impact of respiratory disease. https://www.who.int/gard/publications/The Global Impact of Respiratory Disease.pdf (accessed 2020).
- [3] WHO Global health estimates (9 December 2020) the top 10 causes of death, Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/the-top-10-causesof-death (Accessed: 20.08.2021).
- WHO (2 Aug 2019) pneumonia, Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/ fact-sheets/detail/pneumonia (Accessed: 20.08.2021).
- Hess R. Airway clearance: Physiology, Pharmacology, Techniques, and Practice. http://www.rcjournal.com/contents/10.07/10.07.1392.pdf (accessed 2020).
- [6] Kaur K. A study to assess the effectiveness of breathing exercises as a play way method on respiratory signs and pulmonary parameters among children with lower respiratory tract infections at selected hospital, Punjab. International Journal of Scientific & Engineering Research. 2018;9(11):1939-51.
- [7] Ari A. Aerosol therapy in pulmonary critical care. Respiratory Care. 2015;60(6):858-79. Doi: https://doi.org/10.4187/respcare.03790.
- [8] Carol L, Law MS. Recognition, prevention and management of sputum retention. Nursing Times. 2003;99(23):49.
- [9] Tena FA, Clara CP. Deposition of inhaled particles in the lungs. Arch Bronconeumol. 2012;48(7):240-46.

Ankitha Kharvi et al., Effectiveness of Breathing Exercises after Nebulisation on Respiratory Parameters

- [10] Lippmann M, Yeates DB, Albert RE. Deposition, retention, and clearance of inhaled particles. Br J Ind Med. 1980;37(4):337-62.
- [11] Shally Kumar Y, Kaur P. Effectiveness of breathing exercises as therapeutic play on respiratory status among children undergoing Nebulisation therapy with lower respiratory tract disorders. International Journal of Applied Research. 2017;3(11):101-07.
- [12] Lakshmi S, Rani LS, Brundha PM. Blow the balloon for the ease– A cross-sectional study on wheezing patients. Drug Intervention Today. 2020;14(2):264-67.
- [13] Lee SC, Sin SH, Lee HM. The effects of balloon blow-ups and upper abdominal exercise on respiratory rehabilitation. Korean Acad Phys Ther Sci. 2011;18:43-53.
- [14] Kyndall L, Boyle, Olinick J, Lewis C. The value of blowing up a balloon. N Am J Sports Phys Ther. 2010;5(3):179-88.
- [15] Pediatric Dyspnoea Scale, Available at: https://somepomed.org/articulos/contents/ mobipreview.htm?37/35/38453 (Accessed: 20.08.2021).
- [16] Parshall MB, Schwartzstein RM, Adams L, Banzett RB, Manning HL, Bourbeau J, et al. American Thoracic Society Committee on Dyspnea. An official American Thoracic Society statement: Update on the mechanisms, assessment, and management of dyspnea. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012;185 (4):435-52.
- [17] Angelin K. Effectiveness of balloon exercise on level of dyspnoea among patients with lower respiratory tract disorder. J Lung Pulm Respir Res. 2017;4(2):44-49.

- [18] Bera B, Das N, Sahoo P. Effectiveness of balloon therapy on respiratory status of 6-12 years children with lower respiratory tract infection at a tertiary care hospital, Bhubaneswar, Odisha. Nurs J India. 2020;3:135-39.
- [19] Nelson. Text book of pediatrics. 17th edition. Elsevier publisher. 2005. Pp. 1417.
 [20] Das SM, Nayak GR, Pradhan R. Effect of balloon and bubble therapy on
- physiological parameters of lower respiratory tract infection among 3-12 years children. International Journal of Health Sciences and Research. 2018;8(1):144-47.[21] Sreelatha A. Effect of balloon therapy v/s spirometry in promotion of respiratory
- [21] Steelatria A. Effect of balloon therapy vs spirothetry in prohotion of respiratory function in children with respiratory infection. International Journal of Nursing Research (JJNR). 2016;2(1):123-32.
- [22] Swain M. Effectiveness of breathing exercise as play way method on cardiopulmonary parameters among children (3-12 years) with LRTI (Lower Respiratory Tract Infections) At Tertiary Care Hospital, Bhubaneswar. European Journal of Molecular & Clinical Medicine. 2020;7(11):1114-20.
- [23] Bhuvaneshwari G, Kunjachan R. A comparative study to assess the effect of balloon therapy versus spirometry in promotion of respiratory function in children with lower respiratory infection at SMCH. IJAMSCR. 2019;7(3):123-32.
- [24] Rafaqat A, Mushtaq Z, Tahirand A, Shahzad MF. Comparison between balloon blowing exercise and incentive spirometry in patients with chest intubation after trauma. J Nov Physiother Sports and Physical Activity. 2016;3(13):01-04.

PARTICULARS OF CONTRIBUTORS:

- 1. Student, Department of Nursing, Laxmi Memorial College of Nursing, Mangalore, Karnataka, India.
- 2. Associate Professor, Department of Paediatric Nursing, Laxmi Memorial College of Nursing, Mangalore, Karnataka, India.
- 3. Student, Department of Nursing, Laxmi Memorial College of Nursing, Mangalore, Karnataka, India.

NAME, ADDRESS, E-MAIL ID OF THE CORRESPONDING AUTHOR: Dr. S Shanthi,

Associate Professor, Department of Paediatric Nursing, Laxmi Memorial College of Nursing, AJ Towers, Balmatta, Mangalore-575002, Karnataka, India. E-mail: shantjoe82@gmail.com

AUTHOR DECLARATION:

- Financial or Other Competing Interests: None
- Was Ethics Committee Approval obtained for this study? Yes
- Was informed consent obtained from the subjects involved in the study? Yes
- For any images presented appropriate consent has been obtained from the subjects. No

PLAGIARISM CHECKING METHODS: [Jain H et al.]

- Plagiarism X-checker: Jun 07, 2021
- Manual Googling: Sep 20, 2021

• iThenticate Software: Oct 04, 2021 (6%)

Date of Submission: Jun 05, 2021 Date of Peer Review: Aug 06, 2021 Date of Acceptance: Sep 22, 2021 Date of Publishing: Nov 01, 2021

ETYMOLOGY: Author Origin